RECEIVED

Jun 03 2025

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

APPEAL FROM GREENVILLE COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

G.D. Morgan, Jr., Circuit Court Judge

Case No.: 2024-CP-23-01585

Appellate Case No.: 2024-001864

Thomas Carswell, Jr.,

Appellant,

v.

John Doe, an unidentified
motorist,

Respondent,

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

/s/Sam Tooker

Samuel B. Tooker (S.C. Bar # 78999)

DAVID R. PRICE, JR., P.A.

1001 E. Washington St. (29601)

Post Office Box 2446

Greenville, South Carolina 29602-2446

(864) 271-2636 office

(864) 271-2637 fax

Sam@GreenvilleLegal.com

Attorney for the Appellant Thomas Carswell, Jr.

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. DID THE TRIAL COURT ERR IN GRANTING DEFENDANT'S MOTION FOR JUDGMENT ON THE PLEADINGS BASED ON THE ALLEGED INSUFFICIENCY OF THE AFFIDAVIT FILED ALONGSIDE PLAINTIFF'S COMPLAINT WHEN THERE IS NO REQUIREMENT THAT AN AFFIDAVIT BE FILED ALONGSIDE A COMPLAINT IN A PHANTOM DRIVER CASE?

- II. DID THE TRIAL COURT ERR IN GRANTING DEFENDANT'S MOTION FOR JUDGMENT ON THE PLEADINGS AND MOTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT AFTER CONSIDERING THE TWO ADDITIONAL WITNESS AFFIDAVITS FILED BY PLAINTIFF AFTER PLAINTIFF'S COMPLAINT WAS FILED?

STATEMENT OF CASE

Appellant Thomas Carswell, Jr. (hereinafter “Appellant”) filed suit against Respondent John Doe (hereinafter “Respondent”) as a result of a wreck that occurred on or about April 26, 2021 in Greenville County, South Carolina that caused Appellant to sustain serious personal injuries. (R. pp. 21-31). Because Appellant’s motorcycle and Respondent’s SUV did not physically touch, Appellant was required to bring his action pursuant to South Carolina Code Sections 38-77-170 and 180. This appeal arises from the trial court’s decision to grant Respondent John Doe’s Motion for Judgment on the Pleadings based on the sufficiency of the affidavits produced by Appellant and filed with the trial court.

On the date of the wreck, Appellant and his father were driving two motorcycles on Interstate 385 Southbound. (R. p. 23). Appellant was driving his motorcycle immediately behind his father. (R. p. 23). At that same point in time, a BMW sport utility vehicle, driven by Respondent Doe, who was operating the vehicle in a reckless fashion, came flying up behind Appellant and his father. (R. p. 23). Respondent Doe drove around the motorcyclists on the shoulder of the interstate then appeared to cut into their lane of travel without regard for their safety. (R. p. 23). Respondent Doe nearly struck Appellant’s father, who was directly in front of Appellant, forcing Appellant and his father to merge into the next lane to avoid being hit. (R. p. 23). Respondent Doe, in an apparent attempt to strike Appellant’s father again, merged into Appellant’s father’s lane of travel, while Appellant was immediately behind his father. (R. p. 23).

Respondent Doe and Appellant’s father quickly accelerated in an apparent “road rage” incident, which caused Appellant, who was paying attention to Respondent Doe and

who was worried about his father, to lose control of his motorcycle and crash. (R. pp. 23-24). Appellant alleged in his Complaint that it was foreseeable that Respondent Doe's driving could cause injuries to other motorists, that it was a natural and probable consequence of Respondent Doe's driving that another motorist could be hurt, that no third party's actions broke the causal chain, and that Respondent Doe's actions were abnormally dangerous. (R. p. 24). Appellant suffered serious injuries as a result of Respondent Doe's reckless driving. (R. p. 25).

The wreck caused by Respondent Doe was reported to law enforcement on the day of the incident and within a reasonable time after its occurrence. (R. p. 24). Appellant was not negligent in failing to identify Respondent Doe. (R. p. 25). However, because Respondent Doe did not make contact with Appellant, Appellant could only sue Respondent Doe in accordance with South Carolina Code Sections 38-77-170 and 180.

Appellant filed suit against Respondent Doe on March 13, 2024 and included three causes of action: negligence/gross negligence/recklessness; negligence per se/gross negligence per se/recklessness per se; and strict liability for abnormally dangerous activities. (R. pp. 25-30). Further, Appellant filed an affidavit from his father alongside Appellant's Summons and Complaint, supporting Appellant's allegation that Respondent Doe was responsible for his injuries. (R. pp. 32-34).

Appellant's father's affidavit affirmed that he was operating a motorcycle on I-385 directly in front of Appellant. (R. p. 33). Appellant's father's affidavit affirmed that a BMW SUV operated by an unknown driver, drove on the shoulder of the roadway and twice swung into the lane in which Appellant and his father were traveling. (R. p. 33). Appellant's father's affidavit further attested to the fact that when Appellant's father and

Respondent Doe accelerated away from the near collisions and because of Respondent Doe's driving, Appellant crashed his motorcycle. (R. p. 34).

Appellant served the Greenville County Clerk of Court as statutory agent for service of process for Respondent Doe on April 9, 2024. (R. p. 186). Appellant further served the Department of Insurance as the statutory agent for service of process for Appellant's uninsured motorist carrier. The Department of Insurance accepted service on April 24, 2024. (R. p. 187). Respondent Doe filed an Answer and a Motion for Judgment on the Pleadings on May 23, 2024. (R. pp. 35-43 and pp. 44-45). In Respondent Doe's subsequent Memorandum in Support of its Motion for Judgment on the Pleadings, which was filed on September 2, 2024, Respondent Doe argued that Appellant's Complaint should be dismissed because Appellant's father's affidavit failed to satisfy the requirements of South Carolina Code Section 38-77-170(2). (R. pp. 46-55).

That same day, Appellant filed a Reply to Respondent's Memorandum and argued that, consistent with *Rice v. Doe*, 442 S.C. 160, 898 S.E.2d 127 (2024), Appellant was not required to file an affidavit alongside his Complaint and therefore arguments about the sufficiency of the affidavit Appellant did file were premature. (R. pp. 71-82). Appellant further argued in his Reply that even if Appellant were required to file an affidavit alongside his Complaint, Appellant's father's affidavit did, in fact, satisfy the requirements of Section 38-77-170(2). Appellant subsequently obtained and filed two additional affidavits from witnesses: Ms. Melissa Mack and Ms. Blair Vana, both of which were filed on September 3, 2024. (R. pp. 188-193).

In her affidavit, Ms. Mack stated that she saw an SUV "flying" down I-385 and "swerving in and out of traffic and going around people at an extremely high rate of speed."

(R. p. 189). Ms. Mack stated in her affidavit that the SUV was passing vehicles illegally before it “cut in front of the motorcycle and another motorcycle with which it was traveling.” (R. p. 189). Ms. Mack stated in her affidavit that she “witnessed the SUV nearly hit the motorcycles” after which she saw “one motorcyclist attempt to stay with the SUV, while the other motorcyclist stayed in front of [her].” (R. p. 189). Then, she stated, “the motorcycle that did not keep pace with the SUV, apparently focusing on the SUV, crashed.” (R. p. 189).

Similarly, in Ms. Vana’s affidavit, she offered that she also witnessed the crash that resulted in Appellant’s injuries. (R. p. 192). Ms. Vana stated in her affidavit that she saw Appellant and his father on their motorcycles in front of her. (R. p. 192). She stated in her affidavit that she understood that “a vehicle nearly struck them and sped off.” (R. p. 192). She further stated in her affidavit that Appellant crashed his motorcycle after his father drove off with Respondent Doe. (R. p. 192).

Respondent Doe’s Motion for Judgment on the Pleadings was heard on September 5, 2024 before the Honorable G.D. Morgan, Jr., circuit judge. (R. p. 164). The hearing occurred in person but was recorded by WebEx and subsequently transcribed by a court reporter. As a result of a technical error, the court reporter could not transcribe any statements made by Respondent Doe’s attorney. (R. pp. 120-123). However, the trial court’s statements and statements by Plaintiff’s counsel were recorded. (R. p. 164-185).

The trial court heard oral arguments and subsequently issued a Form 4 Order on September 11, 2024 granting Respondent’s Motion for Judgment on the Pleadings and instructed counsel for Respondent to draft a formal order. (R. pp. 4-6). The trial court then issued a written order, which it filed on October 1, 2024. (R. pp. 7-17).

Appellant then filed a Motion for Reconsideration on October 11, 2024. (R. pp. 85-97). Judge Morgan issued a Form 4 Order denying Appellant’s Motion for Reconsideration on October 31, 2024. (R. pp. 18-20).

On October 31, 2024, Appellant filed his Notice of Appeal. (R. pp. 195-196). Appellant served his Notice of Appeal on counsel for Respondent Doe on October 31, 2024. Appellant then filed his Amended Notice of Appeal on November 1, 2024, which was similarly served on counsel for Respondent Doe that same day. (R. pp. 197-198).

Appellant respectfully appeals the trial court’s Order Granting Doe’s Motion for Judgment on the Pleadings dated October 1, 2024, and the trial court’s Order dated October 31, 2024 denying Appellant’s Motion for Reconsideration.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

A judgment on the pleadings shall be granted “where there is no issue of fact raised by the complaint that would entitle the plaintiff to judgment if resolved in plaintiff’s favor.” *Home Builders Ass’n of S.C. v. Sch. Dist. No. 2 of Dorchester Cnty.*, 405 S.C. 458, 460, 748 S.E.2d 230, 231 (2013),

“All properly pleaded factual allegations are deemed admitted for purposes of the consideration of a [motion for judgment on the pleadings].” *Russell v. City of Columbia*, 305 S.C. 86, 89, 406 S.E.2d 338, 339 (1991). “When a fact is well pleaded, any inference of law or conclusions of fact that may properly arise therefrom are to be regarded as embraced in the averment.” *Id.* “A judgment on the pleadings against the plaintiff is not proper if there is an issue of fact raised by the complaint which, if resolved in favor of the plaintiff, would entitle him to judgment.” *Id.* “Our courts have held that pleadings in a case should be construed liberally so that substantial justice is done between the parties.”

Id. “Further, a judgment on the pleadings is considered to be a drastic procedure by our courts.” *Id.*

“Any party may move for a judgment on the pleadings under Rule 12(c), SCRCP.” *Falk v. Sadler*, 341 S.C. 281, 286, 533 S.E.2d 350, 353 (Ct. App. 2000). “On review of the motion, the court may not consider matters outside the pleadings.” *Id.* If “on a motion for judgment on the pleadings, matters outside the pleadings are presented to and not excluded by the Court, the motion shall be treated as one for summary judgment and disposed of as provided in Rule 56, and all parties shall be given reasonable opportunity to present all material made pertinent to such a motion by Rule 56.” *Ballard v. Admiral Ins. Co.*, 442 S.C. 22, 34, 897 S.E.2d 183, 189 (Ct. App. 2023), *reh'g denied* (Feb. 21, 2024), *cert. denied* (Nov. 14, 2024). When reviewing a judgment on the pleadings, the appellate court applies “the same legal standards as the trial court.” *Id.* The appellate courts “review questions of law de novo.” *Id.*

ARGUMENT

I. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN GRANTING DEFENDANT’S MOTION FOR JUDGMENT ON THE PLEADINGS BASED ON THE ALLEGED INSUFFICIENCY OF THE AFFIDAVIT FILED ALONGSIDE PLAINTIFF’S COMPLAINT WHEN THERE IS NO REQUIREMENT THAT AN AFFIDAVIT BE FILED ALONGSIDE A COMPLAINT IN A PHANTOM DRIVER CASE

The trial court’s Order granting Respondent Doe’s Motion for Judgment on the Pleadings contravenes the South Carolina Supreme Court’s recent decision in *Rice v. Doe*. The trial court stated that Appellant’s Complaint and the affidavit of Appellant’s father filed along with the Complaint “[did] not meet the required conditions to bring an action under the statutory uninsured motorist provision.” (R. p. 10). The trial court stated that Appellant’s Complaint “[did] not meet the requirements of S.C. Code Section 38-77-170

because the affidavit on which his complaint is based is fatally deficient.” (R. p. 12). The court’s order appeared to interpret Section 38-77-170 and *Rice v. Doe* to hold that while an affidavit is not required to be filed alongside a complaint, if an affidavit is filed and is deficient for some reason, then the proper remedy, upon motion, is a dismissal of the action. The court’s articulation in its Order is inconsistent with the Supreme Court’s ruling in *Rice* and should be reversed.

The trial court, in its Order Granting John Doe’s Motion for Judgment on the Pleadings, acknowledged the holding of *Rice*, stating that “S.C. Code Section 38-77-170(2) does not require that the affidavit be filed at the same time as a John Doe lawsuit.” (R. p. 11). The trial court then stated that “[a]lthough Plaintiff was not required to present a witness affidavit in conjunction with filing the complaint in this matter, he chose to do so.” (R. p. 11). The court further noted that “[t]he affidavit was attached to the Complaint as an exhibit and incorporated by reference.” (R. p. 11).

The trial court then concluded that the affidavit filed alongside Appellant’s complaint “[did] not meet the requirements of S.C. Code Section 38-77-170 because the affidavit on which [Appellant’s] complaint is based is fatally deficient.” (R. p. 12). The court concluded the affidavit attached as an exhibit to Appellant’s complaint was deficient because the affiant did not “witness” the event and could not testify to “the truth of the facts of the accident.” (R. p. 6-8). The trial court’s order, then, appears to interpret *Rice* as not requiring the filing of an affidavit contemporaneously with a complaint but holding that if an affidavit is filed and if it is for some reason defective, then the proper remedy is a dismissal of the action. Such a ruling is at odds with the ruling and rationale in *Rice*, and, as Appellant argued in his Memorandum in Opposition to John Doe’s Motion for Judgment

on the Pleadings, Respondent’s motion to dismiss was untimely at that phase in litigation. (R. pp. 75-76).

In *Rice v. Doe*, the plaintiff filed an affidavit from a witness to his collision after filing a complaint and after the defendant filed an answer including a motion to dismiss based on the plaintiff’s failure to file a witness affidavit contemporaneously with his complaint. *Rice v. Doe*, 442 S.C. 160, 163, 898 S.E.2d 127, 128 (2024). The defendant subsequently filed a motion for summary judgment alleging that the plaintiff’s affidavit failed to satisfy the requirements of section 38-77-170 after which the plaintiff filed an amended affidavit curing the defects articulated by the defendant in his motion. *Id.* At trial, the trial court held that filing of an affidavit consistent with section 38-77-170 was a condition precedent to filing an action under sections 38-77-170 and 38-77-180. *Id.* Because the plaintiff failed to file an affidavit satisfying section 38-77-170 alongside his complaint, the trial court dismissed the plaintiff’s case. *Id.*

The Supreme Court overruled the trial court’s decision and held that section 38-77-170 “does not provide that the affidavit must be filed as a condition precedent to filing the action.” *Id.*, at 167, 898 S.E.2d at 130. The Court held that “the statute simply does not provide for” a requirement that a plaintiff file an affidavit contemporaneously with an action under section 38-77-170. *Id.*, at 167, 898 S.E.2d at 131. The Supreme Court acknowledged the “remedial nature” of the uninsured motorist statute, which was “enacted for the benefit of injured persons, and is to be liberally construed so that the purposes intended may be accomplished.” *Id.*, at 167-168, 898 S.E.2d at 131.

Citing the statutory requirement that an affidavit from an expert witness be filed in a medical malpractice action contemporaneously with the complaint, the Court held that

“[i]f the General Assembly intended such a requirement, it could easily have stated the requirement in the statute.” *Id.*, at 168, 898 S.E.2d at 131. Further, the Court provided that the remedy available to an insurer or John Doe defendant in the event that a plaintiff fails to produce a witness affidavit upon request by the carrier or counsel would be “relief through Rule 37(a) (motion to compel) or, if necessary, even Rule 56(c) (motion for summary judgment).” *Id.*

As the *Rice* Court held that there was no requirement that a plaintiff file a supporting affidavit contemporaneously with a complaint to successfully bring a John Doe case against a phantom driver, it would be wholly inconsistent with that logic to find that Appellant’s complaint should, as a matter of law, be dismissed if the affidavit contemporaneously filed with that complaint does not satisfy Section 38-77-170(2). Were the trial court’s finding to be correct, then litigants would, as a matter of course, refrain from filing affidavits alongside complaints in John Doe cases for fear that their witness affidavit would be deemed, in some way, deficient.

As the Court of Appeals acknowledged in *Enos v. Doe*, the “obvious purpose” of the affidavit requirement of the Phantom Driver statute is “fraud prevention.” *Enos v. Doe*, 380 S.C. 295, 308, 669 S.E.2d 619, 625 (Ct. App. 2008). Were this Court to uphold the trial court’s decision and Order, it would incentivize litigants to withhold affidavits when filing complaints. This would encourage gamesmanship and the withholding of otherwise relevant evidence. Such an outcome would be inconsistent with the holding in *Rice* and the express purpose of our John Doe motorist statute. Further, a reading of the statute that required the trial court to grant a motion to dismiss in the event an affidavit filed alongside a complaint is fatally deficient would run afoul of the remedial nature of the uninsured

motorist statute, which is to be liberally construed to benefit injured persons.

The trial court's Order Granting John Doe's Motion for Judgment on the Pleadings should, therefore, be modified to deny John Doe's motion, Appellant's Motion for Reconsideration should be granted, and Appellant's case should be remanded for trial.

II. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN GRANTING DEFENDANT'S MOTION ON THE PLEADINGS AND MOTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT AFTER CONSIDERING THE TWO ADDITIONAL WITNESS AFFIDAVITS FILED BY PLAINTIFF AFTER PLAINTIFF'S COMPLAINT WAS FILED

The trial court's Order granting John Doe's Motion for Judgment on the Pleadings further erred by finding that the three affidavits available to the court failed to satisfy South Carolina Code Sections 38-77-170 and 180. These sections are colloquially referred to as the "Phantom Driver" statute and "collectively allow recovery under a driver's uninsured motorist policy when an accident is caused by an unidentified driver." *Rice v. Doe*, 442 S.C. 160, 162, 898 S.E.2d 127, 128 (2024). Analyzing all affidavits filed by Plaintiff in conjunction with one another, the facts averred by the witnesses were sufficient to satisfy South Carolina Code Section 38-77-170 when subject to either Rule 12(c) or Rule 56(c) scrutiny as the only evidence available to the court was Appellant's allegations and affidavits.

Section 38-77-170 outlines the mechanism for the maintenance of a case against a "John Doe" motorist providing that to successfully prosecute a claim against a John Doe:

(1) the insured or someone in his behalf has reported the accident to some appropriate police authority within a reasonable time, under all the circumstances, after its occurrence;

(2) the injury or damage was caused by physical contact with the unknown vehicle, or the accident must have been witnessed by someone other than the owner or operator of the insured vehicle; provided however, the witness must sign an affidavit attesting to the truth of the facts of the accident

contained in the affidavit;

(3) the insured was not negligent in failing to determine the identity of the other vehicle and the driver of the other vehicle at the time of the accident.

The following statement must be prominently displayed on the face of the affidavit provided in item (2) above: A FALSE STATEMENT CONCERNING THE FACTS CONTAINED IN THIS AFFIDAVIT MAY SUBJECT THE PERSON MAKING THE FALSE STATEMENT TO CRIMINAL PENALTIES AS PROVIDED BY LAW.

S.C. Code Ann. § 38-77-170.¹

Our appellate courts have also commented on the legislative intent behind the statute finding that the “obvious purpose” of the affidavit requirement of the Phantom Driver statute is “fraud prevention” as “[b]y offering sworn trial testimony, the witness subjects herself to the criminal penalties for perjury.” *Enos v. Doe*, 380 S.C. 295, 308, 669 S.E.2d 619, 625 (Ct. App. 2008). “The affidavit also allows the defendant, at trial, to cross examine the witness regarding the statement.” *Id.* Further, “the affidavit constitutes tangible evidence that the insured has a good faith basis for making the claim.” *Id.* “Finally, the sworn affidavit requirement fulfills a notice function: Providing, upon request, the defendant-insurer with information relating to the validity of the plaintiff’s case.” *Id.*

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