RECEIVED

May 30 2025

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM GREENVILLE COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

G.D. Morgan, Jr., Circuit Court Judge

Case No. 2024-CP-23-01585

Appellate Case No.: 2024-001864

Thomas Carswell, Jr.,

Appellant,

v.

John Doe, an unidentified motorist,

Respondent.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

Michael T. Coulter
PO Box 6728
Greenville SC 29606
Attorney for Respondent

Susan Drake DuBose
S.C. Bar. No.: 11543
BAKER, RAVENEL & BENDER, L.L.P.
3710 Landmark Drive, Suite 109
Post Office Box 8057
Columbia, South Carolina 29202
Phone:(803) 799-9091; Fax:(803) 779-3423
Attorneys for Respondent

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

ARGUMENTS

I. THE CIRCUIT COURT'S CONSIDERATION OF THE AFFIDAVIT SERVED WITH THE COMPLAINT AT THE HEARING ON JOHN DOE'S MOTION FOR JUDGMENT ON THE PLEADINGS WAS TIMELY AND PROPER

The circuit court's consideration of the affidavit of Thomas S. Carswell, Sr. at the hearing on Respondent's motion for judgment on the pleadings was timely and proper. Appellant's Complaint seeks damages for injuries he alleges were caused by the actions of John Doe, an unknown driver. South Carolina Code Ann. § 38-77-170 (2015) establishes the right of action against an unknown operator of a vehicle and provides:

(A) If the owner or operator of any motor vehicle which causes bodily injury or property damage to the insured is unknown, **there is no right of action or recovery under the uninsured motorist provision, unless:**

- (1) the insured or someone in his behalf has reported the accident to some appropriate police authority within a reasonable time, under all the circumstances, after its occurrence;
- (2) the injury or damage was caused by physical contact with the unknown vehicle, **or the accident must have been witnessed by someone other than the owner or operator of the insured vehicle; provided however, the witness must sign an affidavit attesting to the truth of the facts of the accident contained in the affidavit;**

- (3) the insured is not negligent in failing to determine the identity of the other vehicle and the driver of the other vehicle at the time of the accident.

(B) The following statement must be prominently displayed on the face of the affidavit provided in subitem (2) above: A FALSE STATEMENT CONCERNING THE FACTS CONTAINED IN THIS AFFIDAVIT MAY SUBJECT THE PERSON MAKING THE FALSE STATEMENT TO CRIMINAL PENALTIES AS PROVIDED BY LAW.

S.C. Code Ann. § 38-77-170 (2015) (bold emphasis added).¹ As the allegations in the Complaint clearly reveal, there was no physical contact between the motorcycle Appellant was operating at the time of his accident and the unknown vehicle, triggering the statute's mandatory witness affidavit requirement for a right of action.

Appellant was aware of this requirement, as evidenced by his allegations in paragraph eight of the Complaint:

Plaintiff's father has provided an affidavit regarding the circumstances in this case in compliance with South Carolina Code Section 38-77-170(2). That affidavit is attached as "Exhibit A" and incorporated herein by

¹ After the filing of this lawsuit, section (A)(2) of this statutory provision was amended as follows and requires that one of the following conditions is met:

- (a) the injury or damage was caused by physical contact with the unknown vehicle;
- (b) the accident was witnessed by someone other than the owner or operator of the insured vehicle; provided, however, the witness must sign an affidavit attesting to the truth of the facts of the accident contained in the affidavit or upon failing to obtain the affidavit, the insured may seek a court order for a presuit deposition of the witness under the procedures set forth in Rule 27, South Carolina Rules of Civil Procedure; or
- (c) the insured can provide a recording of the accident, obtained electronically or otherwise, showing that the damage or injury was caused by the unknown vehicle;

S.C. Code Ann. § 38-77-170(A)(2) (May 20, 2024). The act called for prospective application. Nevertheless, based on the description of the accident in the Complaint and the lack of contact between Appellant's motorcycle and the unknown vehicle, no recording satisfying section (c) exists.

reference.

(R. p. 23, ¶8). Judgment on the pleadings is proper when the plaintiff cannot recover as a matter of law. Lydia v. Horton, 355 S.C. 36, 583 S.E.2d 750 (2003). When considering a motion for judgment on the pleadings, exhibits attached to the pleading are considered “a part thereof for all purposes”. Rule 10(c), SCRPC. Despite referring to the required affidavit in the complaint, attaching it as an exhibit to the complaint, incorporating the affidavit into the complaint by reference, and specifically alleging that the affidavit complied with the requirements of the statute, Appellant argues that it was improper for the circuit court to consider the sufficiency of the affidavit at the hearing on Respondent’s motion for judgment on the pleadings.

Appellant relies on Rice v. Doe, 442 S.C.160, 898 S.E.2d 127 (2024) to support his argument that the consideration of the affidavit of Thomas S. Carswell, Sr. and Respondent’s motion were untimely. Appellant correctly cites Rice v. Doe for holding that S.C. Code § 38-77-170(A)(2) does not mandate that the required witness affidavit be filed at the same time as a John Doe lawsuit. Appellant was not required to file a witness affidavit with his complaint, and in fact, he did not. The record reveals that the affidavit of Thomas S. Carswell, Sr., referred to as “Exhibit A” in the complaint, was actually filed several weeks after the filing of his complaint but prior to service on Respondent. (R. pp. 32-34).

Appellant’s expansive reading of the holding in Rice v. Doe to prevent a court from reviewing the contents of a filed affidavit pursuant to a motion is misplaced. Rice did not address the contents or sufficiency of the affidavit that was submitted but focused on whether the affidavit was timely filed. The first paragraph of the opinion establishes the limited scope of the decision:

This case presents the question whether compliance with the witness affidavit requirement in subsection 38-77-170(2) of the South Carolina Code (2015) is a condition precedent to the filing of a “John Doe” civil action. We hold it is not. Rather, the witness affidavit may be produced after the commencement of the

lawsuit. As we will explain, however, the affidavit should be produced promptly upon request, and if it is not, the action is subject to dismissal pursuant to Rule 56(c) of the South Carolina Rules of Civil Procedure.

Rice v. Doe, 442 S.C.160, 162, 898 S.E.2d 127, 128 (2024). The case involved an appeal of the order dismissing the case prior to trial for failing to file a witness affidavit with the complaint. A prior order denying summary judgment that was not on appeal addressed the sufficiency of the contents of the affidavit. The Court's opinion was limited to whether the statute required that the affidavit be filed at the same time as the action. The Court held that a witness affidavit may be produced after a lawsuit is filed, as Appellant did in the instant matter. However, there is nothing in the opinion to suggest that, once an affidavit is produced, a court cannot consider the sufficiency of the affidavit on a motion for judgment on the pleadings or motion to dismiss.

Appellant argues that interpreting the statute to require a trial court to grant a motion to dismiss when an affidavit filed with a complaint is fatally deficient is contrary to the remedial nature of the statute. (App. Brief, p. 12). However, compliance with the statute's affidavit requirements is mandatory to maintain a right of action where there is no contact with the unknown vehicle. The Court of Appeals granted summary judgment under similar facts in Shealy v. Doe, 370 S.C. 194, 634 S.E.2d 45 (Ct. App. 2006). In Shealy, the plaintiff filed a complaint and "submitted an affidavit, which he attached and incorporated into the complaint." Defendant Doe filed a motion to dismiss for failure to state facts sufficient to constitute a cause of action. At the hearing, the plaintiff presented an additional affidavit and letter. Noting that these submissions converted the motion to one for summary judgment, the lower court held that the affidavits did not comply with the statutory witness affidavit requirements and granted the motion. The Court of Appeals affirmed the lower court's decision on the grounds that the affidavits did not meet the statute's mandate because the affiants did not witness the accident. Shealy v. Doe, 370 S.C. 194,

634 S.E.2d 45 (Ct. App. 2006).

Appellant cites Enos v. Doe, 380 S.C. 295, 669 S.E.2d 619 (Ct. App. 2008) as recognizing that “the” purpose of the affidavit requirement is fraud prevention. (App. Brief, p. 12). However, the Court of Appeals in Enos, quoting the South Carolina Supreme Court’s decision in Collins v. Doe, noted “three purposes for the sworn affidavit requirement”. Enos, 380 S.C. at 308, 669 S.E.2d at 626. In addition to fraud prevention and fulfilling a notice function to insurers regarding potential witnesses, the Court explicitly stated that a purpose of the affidavit requirement is to provide “tangible evidence that the insured has a good faith basis for making the claim”. Id. The statute and the case law interpreting it are clear; without an affidavit satisfying the statutory requirements, a plaintiff has no right of action against John Doe where there is no contact with the unknown vehicle. *See, e.g.* Collins v. Doe, 352 S.C. 462, 574 S.E.2d 739 (2002). Therefore, it is proper for a court to consider an affidavit that is produced by a plaintiff on a motion to dismiss or motion for judgment on the pleadings.

Appellant also argues that upholding the circuit court’s order will incentivize plaintiffs to withhold filing affidavits with a John Doe complaint. (App. Brief, p. 12). The opening paragraph to the Rice opinion states that “the affidavit should be produced promptly upon request, and if it is not, the action is subject to dismissal pursuant to Rule 56(c) of the South Carolina Rules of Civil Procedure”. Rice v. Doe, 442 S.C.160, 162, 898 S.E.2d 127, 128 (2024). The Court also recognized that the affidavit is “essential to the success of the claim” and states that the courts will not tolerate the type of gamesmanship Appellant suggests will result from upholding the circuit court’s order:

Though we find the witness affidavit is not a prerequisite to filing a John Doe action, we recognize the requirement is essential to the success of the claim. Initially, therefore, we wonder why any Appellant in such a case would not be eager to produce the affidavit at the earliest opportunity. Certainly, a John Doe defendant

or the relevant insurer is entitled to have the affidavit produced promptly upon request. Our courts will not countenance the use of delay in producing the affidavit as an element of strategy.

Rice v. Doe, 442 S.C.160, 168, 898 S.E.2d 127, 131 (2024).

In order to maintain an action against John Doe in this case, Appellant was required to produce an affidavit of an independent witness. Rather than merely filing the affidavit “alongside” a complaint, as characterized by Appellant, the Complaint and affidavit of Thomas S. Carswell, Sr. are inextricably linked. The Complaint references the affidavit as an attached exhibit, incorporates the affidavit by reference, and states the factual allegations of the affidavit as allegations in the body of the complaint. *See* R. pp. 23-24, ¶¶8-14, 16, 18-20 and R. pp. 33-34, ¶¶6, 8-12, 15-18. The Complaint also specifically alleges twice that the affidavit satisfies the requirements of the statute. *See* R. p. 23, ¶8 and R. p. 24, ¶26. The circuit court’s review of the sufficiency of the affidavit pursuant to Respondent’s motion for judgment on the pleadings was timely and consistent with case law. As detailed below, the circuit court also correctly found that the affidavit of Thomas S. Carswell, Sr. and the additional affidavits submitted by Appellant did not meet the requirements of S.C. Code Ann. § 38-77-170 (A)(2).

II. THE CIRCUIT COURT PROPERLY GRANTED SUMMARY JUDGMENT FOR JOHN DOE WHERE THE FACTS ALLEGED IN THE COMPLAINT AND AFFIDAVITS SUBMITTED BY APPELLANT FAILED TO SATISFY THE STATUTORY REQUIREMENTS FOR A JOHN DOE ACTION

The facts alleged in the Complaint and three affidavits submitted by Appellant failed to satisfy the requirements for a right of action under S.C. Code § 38-77-170 and summary judgment was proper. The John Doe statute requires that “someone other than the owner or operator of the insured vehicle must have witnessed the accident and attest to the facts of the accident in a signed affidavit.” Bradley v. Doe, 374 S.C. 622, 626-627, 649 S.E.2d 153, 156 (Ct. App. 2007). The

question of whether an independent witness affidavit meets the requirements of S.C. Code § 38-77-170 is well-established in South Carolina with courts construing the statute narrowly and requiring strict compliance with the statute's affidavit requirements in order to recover against a John Doe driver. *See, e.g. Collins v. Doe*, 352 S.C. 462, 574 S.E.2d 739 (2002). The South Carolina Supreme Court has stated that “[t]he plain language of § 38-77-170(2) requires that where the accident involves no physical contact between the insured's vehicle and the unidentified vehicle, the accident *must* have been witnessed by someone other than the owner or operator of the insured vehicle and the witness *must* sign an affidavit attesting to the truth of the facts of the accident contained therein.” *Id.*, 352 S.C. at 470, 574 S.E.2d at 743 (internal quotation marks omitted)(emphasis in original). All of the affidavits submitted by Appellant were from individuals other than the owner or operator of the insured vehicle and contained the required language regarding false statements. However, Appellant failed to submit an affidavit satisfying the other affidavit requirements for a right of action under S.C. Code § 38-77-170 and summary judgment is proper.

The initial requirement is that the affiant must have been a witness to the accident. “Section 38-77-170(2) is clear on its face. It expressly requires that someone other than the owner or operator of the insured vehicle witness the accident.” *Bradley v. Doe*, 374 S.C. 622, 629, 649 S.E.2d 153, 157 (Ct. App. 2007); *Shealy v. Doe*, 370 S.C. 194, 200, 634 S.E.2d 45, 48 (Ct. App. 2006). The independent witness must actually see the accident and attest to the facts they saw. *Shealy v. Doe*, 370 S.C. 194, 634 S.E.2d 45 (Ct. App. 2006). Witnessing events before or after an accident is not sufficient to satisfy the statute. *See Bradley v. Doe*, 374 S.C. 622, 649 S.E.2d 153 (Ct. App. 2007). The affiant must witness the accident contemporaneously. *Silva v. Allstate Property & Casualty Insurance Company*, 424 S.C. 512, 818 S.E.2d 753 (2018).

The independent eyewitness must also attest to actions of the unknown driver that causally contributed to the accident. *See Gilliland v. Doe*, 357 S.C. 197, 592 S.E.2d 626 (2004). In *Gilliland v. Doe*, the South Carolina Supreme Court reviewed the court of appeals' decision to determine the "extent [to which] an independent witness must testify about the causal connection between the unknown vehicle and the accident to satisfy the legislature's intent to protect insurance companies from fraudulent claims in 'John Doe' actions." *Gilliland*, 357 S.C. at 200, 592 S.E.2d at 628 (2004). The Court adopted the interpretation of Section 38-77-170(2)'s requirement that an independent witness must attest to "the truth of the facts of the accident" used by the court of appeals, holding that the witness must "be able to attest to the circumstances surrounding the accident, i.e., what actions of the unknown driver contributed to the accident." *Id.*, 357 S.C. at 201, 592 S.E.2d at 628.

In addition to the affidavit of Thomas S. Carswell, Sr., Appellant submitted the affidavits of Blair Vana and Melissa Mack for the circuit court's consideration prior to the hearing on Respondent's motion for judgment on the pleadings. The circuit court converted the motion for judgment on the pleadings in this matter to a motion for summary judgment since Appellant submitted documents outside the pleadings in response to the motion, Respondent did not object to their consideration, and the court considered the documents when issuing its order. *See Gilbert v. Miller*, 356 S.C. 25, 586 S.E.2d 861 (Ct. App. 2003). To the extent Appellant is attempting to use the three affidavits he submitted cumulatively to satisfy the affidavit requirement, the plain language of the statute clearly refers to "the witness" signing "an affidavit".² "When a statute's terms are clear and unambiguous on their face, there is no room for statutory construction and a

² Appellant's brief refers to "analyzing all affidavits in conjunction with one another" in order to satisfy the statute. (App. Brief, p. 13).

court must apply the statute according to its literal meaning.” Enos v. Doe, 380 S.C. 295, 303, 669 S.E.2d 619, 624 (Ct. App. 2008). An analysis of each individual affidavit reveals that the circuit court correctly held that none of the affidavits submitted satisfies the statutory requirements.

a. The Affidavit of Thomas S. Carswell, Sr.

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